
Statutory Deputy City Mayor & Lead Member for 
Housing Briefing  
 
The council is now holding virtual meetings. This plays a part in helping us to maintain 
the safety of the public, staff and councillors. 
 
The City Mayor has asked that, as far as possible, there is still public involvement and 
input into the decision-making process. 
 
Therefore, should you wish to raise a question or comment on any of the items listed, 
which will be presented at the meeting on your behalf, you can do so in writing, by 
sending an email to the address at the bottom of this agenda. 
 
Please do this by 4.30pm on the day before the meeting is due to take place. 
 
Further information on the coronavirus and what it means for Salford can be found on 
the council website - https://www.salford.gov.uk/coronavirus 

 
DATE: Tuesday, 19 January 2021 
 
TIME:  1.15 pm 

This meeting has been postponed – new date will be published. 
 
VENUE: MS Teams Live Meeting 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

 THIS MEETING HAS BEEN POSTPONED - NEW DATE WILL BE 
PUBLISHED.  
 

 

1   Apologies for absence.  
 

 

2   Declarations of interest.  
 

 

3   Items for Decision (Part 1 - Open to the Public): No Items.  
 

 

4   Public Briefing/Information Item:  
 
The following item is for the primary purpose of providing members of 
the public with all relevant information on the respective matter, other 
than those elements, which in accordance with the relevant sections 
of the Local Government Act 1972, remain confidential and require 
that any arising decision is taken in Part 2 of the agenda. 
 

 

4a Security and Concierge Services in Pendleton (See Item 6a).  
 

(Pages 1 - 22) 

5   Exclusion of the Public.  
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

6   Item for Decision Part 2 (Closed to the Public):  
 

 

6a Security and Concierge Services in Pendleton.  
 

(Pages 23 - 36) 

7   Any other business.  
 

 

 
Contact Officer: Claire Edwards 
Tel No:  
E-Mail: decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk 

mailto:decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk


 1 

 Part 1 – Open to the Public 
 

 

 

 
 

REPORT OF STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PLACE 
TO 

THE BRIEFING OF THE STATUTORY DEPUTY CITY MAYOR AND 
LEAD MEMBER FOR HOUSING 

ON 
19th January 2021 

 

 
 
TITLE:  Security and concierge services in Pendleton. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Lead Member note the proposals detailed below on the recommended changes 
to security and concierge services in Pendleton as set out in the body of this report 
and in further detail set out in an accompanying Part 2 report for approval elsewhere 
on the agenda.  
  

1. The termination of the current agreement with Salix Homes. 
2. The transfer of services to the council’s Community Safety Team. 
3. The changes in the service delivery and improved accountability included in 

the revised Service Level Agreement. 
4. The instruction of ICT Services to take the necessary steps to transfer the 

network back to the civic centre. 
5. HR to work with Salix Homes to confirm the required TUPE implications. 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The City Council, through a Service Level Agreement (SLA) with Salix Homes, 
provide remote and on-site concierge services, CCTV monitoring and mobile patrols 
to nine council owned tower blocks in Pendleton. 
 
Following changes to the concierge services, resident dissatisfaction with the service 
and concern over the high cost of provision of security services, the council was 
asked to review and investigate options for changing the service. The council has 
worked with residents, Pendleton Together and the council’s Community Safety 
Team to propose a revised service for Pendleton. 
 
The review suggests that bringing the security service back to the council and 
operating it from the council’s CCTV Control room offers better value for money for 
residents.  This option best responded to resident and stakeholder consultation and 
offers a consistent service and charging to all residents.  The benefit from a single 
team providing the service to residents reduces costs.  The revised service is also 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4a



 2 

able to improve responsiveness and offer improved CCTV and ASB management, as 
well as advantages of a concierge service sitting beside the council’s service and 
linkages to GM Police.   
 

 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:   

 
 
KEY DECISION:   NO 

 
 
DETAILS: 
 
1.0 Background 
 
Security and concierge services were introduced onto the council blocks in Pendleton 
following investment in door entry, CCTV and controlled access systems during the 
late 1980s and 1990s.  The main aims of this investment and introduction of the 
service was to improve the safety and security of residents living on the blocks by 
controlling access to the blocks, help manage ASB in the surrounding area with the 
addition of CCTV monitoring, improve the sustainability of the apartments and reduce 
void levels. 
 
As the concierge systems developed over time, to reflect the available technology 
and investment, changes were also made to how the services are delivered that has 
resulted in a two-tier system in operation across the council blocks in Pendleton.  
Thorn and Spruce Court have traditional ‘guard lodges’ in the foyer of each block 
where staff operate the door entry and CCTV systems whilst the other seven council 
owned blocks are remotely operated from a separate control centre.  Residents pay a 
different level of service charge to reflect the two services in operation, with staffed 
security significantly more expensive than the remote monitoring system. 
 
Salix Homes, formerly the council’s Arm’s Length Management Organisation, operate 
the current service on behalf of the council.  They deliver a service to both council 
and Salix Homes stock and recent changes made to their service has looked to 
improve the quality and value for money of the service by linking it to their Customer 
Services Team.  For seven of the Pendleton blocks the changes to the services 
generated savings that have been passed onto tenants who benefited from a small 
reduction in their service charge. 
 
However, the concierge at Thorn and Spruce Court has higher running costs 
associated with the staff provision required to run individual guard lodges on the two 
blocks.  These costs have continued to increase in line with wage costs and the 
introduction of the Living Wage in the city.  Salix Homes have also made changes to 
the service and no longer provide staff cover during periods of leave and absence.  
This reduction in service has not led to a reduction in costs as Salix Homes 
previously covered these costs and did not pass the cost onto resident’s service 
charges. 
 

Page 2



 3 

2.0 Dissatisfaction with security service 
 
Residents have expressed dissatisfaction with the service in several ways.   
 
Initially dissatisfaction was mainly registered by residents in Thorn and Spruce who 
were unhappy at the reduction in service that was not reflected in a reduction in 
costs.  An exercise was carried out to review and compare the cost of the service 
against similar organisations and this found that the costs provided by Salix Homes 
were comparable.  Efforts to temporarily re-instate the additional cover have failed, in 
part due to the high cost associated with the service and with Salix unwilling to do 
this. 
 
Pendleton has well-established Tenant and Resident involvement and governance 
structures. A resident Security Subgroup meets monthly with contractors to regularly 
scrutinise and improve performance.  Complaints are raised monthly and 
investigated including the dissatisfaction outlined below. 
 
In early 2019 the Assembly also carried out a scrutiny exercise of the security service 
in Pendleton and produced a report detailing its findings and a series of 
recommendations.  The report was critical of services delivered by the council, 
Pendleton Together (the council’s PFI contractor responsible for investment and 
maintenance of the physical system) and Salix Homes responsible for the operation 
of the concierge, mobile patrols and CCTV monitoring services. 
 
In summary the report highlighted issues with: 
 

 Delays in the concierge responding to access was sometimes several minutes; 

 Clarity of speech to concierge is inconsistent; 

 Operators did not call flats to verify the visitor and had varying degrees of 
helpfulness from the staff; 

 Times of no response at all due to the system being down, gates left open for 
long periods; 

 Changes in staff cover at Thorn and Spruce has reduced the level of service 
and increasingly leaves the block with remote access only; 

 Inadequate and inconsistent Block Patrols; 

 Poor quality or inadequate CCTV coverage, with allegations that a full-time 
watch is no longer maintained; 

 Allegations that the SLA is not fit for purpose to tackle ASB and is holding up 
legal case. 

 Critical of the equipment, the PFI investment and performance of the repairs 
contract. 

 
The Scrutiny report concluded that: 

(1) Salix Homes should provide continual CCTV monitoring 
(2) Ownership of the physical system needs clarifying 
(3) Agree new scope of service for Pendleton tenants with PPP (Resident 

Assembly) 
(4) Allow all parties to tender 

 

Page 3



 4 

Whilst the Security Subgroup continued to work with both contractors to improve the 
current service the council committed to working with residents to review the scope of 
services and investigate alternative options that were equitable, affordable and better 
meet the needs of all residents. 
 
3.0 Consultation to date; working with partners 
 
In November 2019 the Pendleton and the Community Safety teams met with the 
resident assembly to get initial feedback on the priorities for residents for a revised 
Scope of Service. 
 
The assembly feedback mirrored that of the Scrutiny report.  Residents liked the 
knowledge that there was some form of security system on the blocks, making them 
feel safer and they felt that some form of controlled access is good.  However, they 
were dissatisfied with the current service and felt the value for money is poor.  There 
were negative comments about the two-tier system being delivered across the 
blocks. 
 
The assembly strongly felt mobile patrols served little purpose and they would like to 
see increased CCTV coverage and improved monitoring, including monitoring of the 
public realm outside the curtilage of the blocks and the ability to track ASB from the 
blocks onto the Broadwalk.   
 
The Community Safety team provided information on the council’s CCTV and alarm 
monitoring system and advantages of a concierge service sitting beside the council’s 
service and linkages to GM Police.   
 
Residents viewed complete removal of the controlled system a risk as unauthorised 
access may increase.  However, they were more open to the removal the manned 
guards on Thorn and Spruce Court, if improvements to ASB response and CCTV 
monitoring could be made. 
 
Tenant survey 
 
In March 2020 a survey, about the existing security service, was sent to all tenants 
who live in the nine high rise blocks. The survey was completed by 128 tenants 
representing just under 20% of all tenants receiving the service.  
 
The main conclusions that can be taken from the responses to the questionnaire are 
there are high levels of dissatisfaction with the current service. Many of the 
comments received mention slow response times from the remote concierge; 
unauthorised access into the blocks and that the service is poor value for money. 
These comments reflected those raised by the Scrutiny Panel report. 
 
The report demonstrated that there was a clear preference for increasing levels of 
CCTV coverage to include car parks and roads surrounding the blocks. This again 
concurred with the comments from tenants who attended the security workshop in 
November 2019. There was also, through the questionnaire, a preference for shorter 
response times as opposed to a daily block patrol that currently takes place. All these 
preferences can be reflected in the revised specification of the future service. 

Page 4



 5 

 
The questionnaire did not show that there was a clear preference for the type of 
security service required at Spruce and Thorn Court. The responses in favour of a 12 
hour or a 24-hour concierge matched those in favour of a remote concierge. 
 
4.0 Revised Scope of service 
 
To develop the new service in Pendleton the council has engaged with the various 
Pendleton resident groups and panels; Pendleton Together; the council’s Community 
Safety team and external technical advisors. The key features of the new service 
comprise of elements that have been highlighted as being important in the scrutiny 
report, the Assembly feedback and the resident survey, including service 
improvements and value for money. 
 
The main change proposed is that the service is brought back to the council and be 
delivered by the Community Safety team from its CCTV control room based at 
Swinton Civic Centre. This was shown to have several advantages that improved the 
quality of the service. 
 
The issue of slow response times, when calling concierge to try and enter a building, 
will be addressed through increasing the number of staff dedicated to a Pendleton 
desk during daytime hours.  Currently there is only one officer and workstation 
assigned to the Pendleton blocks. Under the new system this will look to increase to 
two dedicated officers during daytime hours. There is also the ability to provide cover 
from similar council teams who operate from the CCTV Control room, e.g.  when 
cover is required for breaks.  This will enable shorter waiting times for visitors and 
greater flexibility of staff to monitor CCTV and address anti-social behaviour and 
tenancy issues across the blocks. 
 
The new service will remove the daily guard patrol. This was not seen as being 
important or value for money by residents. Instead of a daily patrol, that currently 
occurs every evening, there will be more focus on improving the monitoring of the 
estate through the CCTV system, including regular remote patrols.  
 
For tenants of Spruce and Thorn Court the main change to the service is that they 
will no longer receive a concierge service run from the blocks.  All blocks will receive 
a 24-hour service delivered remotely by the council’s Community Safety team.   
Again, the new system is designed to improve responsiveness to visitors and 
monitoring of the estate.  The service responsibilities of the council’s control centre 
reflected those of a service delivered from the concierge rooms on the blocks, but at 
a reduced cost offering greater value for money for residents.  The proposed revised 
service also offers a consistent service across all blocks.   
 
5.0  Cost of service and options considered 
 
The council considered a number of options for the service and compared the cost 
and impact on residents of the proposed services.  The council and its sub-
contractors are obliged to pay the Living Wage to the guards and adhere to the terms 
of the Green Book allowance.  All estimated costs for the different services have 

Page 5



 6 

been calculated in this way and were also used to give residents a rough guide as to 
the potential cost of each service option during consultation.   
   
 
 
 

No. Option description 
 

Thorn & 
Spruce Court 

Other 
Blocks 

 Current Salix Service £18.17 £8.11 

1 Service stays the same but delivered by 
the council 

£17.67 £8.16 

2 Thorn and Spruce receive 24h concierge, 
other blocks remotely from the council’s 
CCTV Control Room 

£21.28 £8.16 

3 A daytime only service for Spruce & Thorn   £12.07 £5.07 

4 Service delivered out of Thorn and Spruce 
concierge rooms for all blocks 

£16.21 £5.07 

5 Service delivered to all blocks from the 
council’s CCTV Control Room 

£6.95 £6.95 

6 Concierge Service is removed, and visitors 
access the blocks through an electronic 
door entry system 

£2.46 £2.46 

 
1. Service stays the same but delivered by the council 

 
The council explored whether their delivery of the current two-tier service without 24-
hour cover would offer any improvements.  Keeping the same structure and service 
delivery as the current provider was discounted due to the high cost and poor level of 
service able to be provided, as well as not meeting residents’ expectations. 
 

2. Thorn and Spruce receive 24h concierge, other blocks remotely from the 
CCTV Control room A daytime only service for Spruce and Thorn 

 
Whilst there was some resident support to return the service at Thorn and Spruce to 
a full cover 24-hour service, there was also support for reducing this service to 
daytime only and changing the service to remote monitoring.  This option was 
discounted as the cost of delivering a full 24-hour service was prohibitive whilst not 
offering any clear advantage over a service delivered remotely.  The two-tier service 
was also viewed as unfair by some residents.   
 

3. A daytime only service for Spruce & Thorn   
 
This option was discounted as, whilst reducing the costs of the service to Thorn and 
Spruce residents, the cost remained high compared to a remote service whilst not 
offering any clear advantage over a service delivered remotely.  The two-tier service 
was also viewed as unfair by some residents. 
 

4. Service delivered out of Thorn and Spruce concierge rooms for all blocks. 
 

Page 6



 7 

This option was discounted as the service delivered from Thorn and Spruce for all 
blocks still resulted in a high cost two tier system.  It was felt that residents on the 
other seven blocks, whilst ostensibly receiving the same level of service as Thorn 
and Spruce residents, could not be charged the same as those on Thorn and Spruce 
who had staff based within their curtilage.  The price differential is therefore based on 
staff resource dedicated to the blocks.  There were also some physical constraints to 
the available rooms to deliver this service. 
 

5. Service delivered to all blocks from the council’s CCTV Control Room. 
 
This was viewed as the option which best responded to resident and stakeholder 
consultation.  It offers a consistent service and charging to all residents.  The costs 
benefit from economies of scale in a single team providing the service to residents 
and reduces costs.  The service was also able to improve responsiveness and offer 
improved CCTV and ASB management. 
 

6. Concierge Service is removed, and visitors access the blocks through an 
electronic door entry system. 

 
Other providers are looking at removal of the concierge altogether with visitors 
contacting the tenant directly for access. This was considered in Pendleton but the 
feedback, from the various groups and the resident survey, was that tenants still 
valued the layer of security that the remote concierge would provide. A system with 
no remote concierge operated in the past but was replaced with the current 
concierge to tackle issues of ASB and empty properties.  Complete removal was not 
an option put forward by residents. 
 
6.0 Other factors taken into account 
 
No other social housing blocks in Salford have a staffed guard concierge 
 
Currently Spruce and Thorn Court are the only social housing blocks in Salford that 
operate an on-site concierge service. Salix Homes used to provide on site concierge 
services in the past but now operate a remote concierge across al their blocks. 
Fitzwarren Court, in Pendleton was one of the last Salix blocks to switch to a remote 
concierge service. Salix have stated that there have not been any increases to crime 
and ASB experienced at the block since the change was made.  
 
The current system is becoming unaffordable  
 
The rent at Spruce and Thorn is more expensive than at other blocks.  
 
Table 2   Rent and service charges on other Pendleton blocks 
 

Block Rent 
(2 bed) 

Security 
charge 

Other 
service 
charges 

Total 
Service 
Charge 

Local 
Housing 
Allowance 

Total 

Thorn & 
Spruce 

£88.24 £18.17 £10.81 £28.98 £138.08 £117.22 

 

Page 7



 8 

Recent studies have identified the cost of housing as a major impact on a resident’s 
health and well-being and that increasingly parts of the city’s housing market are 
becoming unobtainable, including some affordable rented stock. The Sustainable 
Housing & Urban Studies Unit at Salford University (SHUSU) report on ‘Living Rents 
and renting in Salford’ (May 2019) found that, through interviews with housing 
providers, there were growing numbers of people receiving benefit who have no 
disposable income after their rents are paid. The report recommended maximising 
affordable housing delivery, capping rent increases and further investigation into the 
true meaning of housing affordability, in Salford based on the experience of tenants.    
 
Rents at Thorn and Spruce are the highest of the council blocks and have increased 
substantially in recent years.  A significant part of the total rent is the security charge.  
This remains high due to the need for staff to provide the service in its current format 
and it is therefore affected by increases to the Living Wage that form most of the 
security charge.  These trends are likely to continue.  The rents are also approaching 
the Local Housing Allowance (£138.08 for 1 bed) and this may in the future impact on 
resident’s ability to access Housing Benefit. 
 
With the economic impact of Coronavirus hitting a lot of people through loss of jobs, 
and reductions in incomes, this may make the block unaffordable for people 
considering living there and may affect sustainability and rental income.   
 
7.0  Works required to transfer the system from Salix Homes to the Civic Centre. 
 
ICT services have a network presence on a number of Salford blocks and this 
network presence provides the opportunity for the CCTV and concierge data feeds 
for the nine council blocks to be fed into the council network and transmitted to CCTV 
Control Room.  Investigations by ICT services and their sub-contractor have now 
provided an estimated cost of transferring the system back to the civic centre and 
improving the connections to reduce faults.  The design proposals submitted both 
reduce the latency, improving the quality and speed of connection to the blocks and 
introducing diverse routing which would reduce the likelihood of the network going 
down 
 
There is also work required to create a new dedicated workstation for the Pendleton 
team within the councils existing control centre.  
 
8.0      Cost of providing the security service 
 
The current cost of the security service in 2020/21 is £506k and for 2021/22 the 
estimate is £524k.  
 
Under the new arrangement, with the service being brought in house, the overall cost 
of the service for 2021/22 is estimated at £ 287,321.  This figure includes the capital 
cost of the transfer of equipment spread over a three-year period.  
 
The weekly service charge for tenants of Thorn and Spruce court will therefore 
reduce from £18.77 (2021/22) to £7.19. The service charge for all other blocks will 
reduce from £8.27 (2021/22) to £7.19. 
 

Page 8



 9 

9.0 Conclusion 
 
The review suggests that bringing the security service back to the council and 
operating it from the council’s CCTV Control room offers better value for money for 
residents.  This option best responded to resident and stakeholder consultation.  It 
offers a consistent service and charging to all residents.  The costs benefit from 
economies of scale in a single team providing the service to residents and reduces 
costs.  The service was also able to improve responsiveness and offer improved 
CCTV and ASB management, as well as advantages of a concierge service sitting 
beside the council’s service and linkages to GM Police.   
 

 
 
KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: Salford Community Safety Strategy 
     Salford Housing Strategy 

 
 
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:  
A Community Impact Assessment screening form has been completed and approved 
by Magda Sachs in the Equalities Team. This will need reviewing when the TUPE 
terms, for staff transferring from Salix to SCC Crime & Community Safety Team, are 
known. 

 
 
ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Medium.  Investigations show that the system can be 
transferred back to the council and a mobilisation plan is being developed to ensure 
the service remains operational during this period. 

 
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Tony Hatton – Manchester Legal 
 
The report sets out the Council’s intention to bring back in-house the security and 
concierge services to Council-owned tower blocks in Pendleton. A Service Level 
Agreement (SLA) with Salix Homes for them to provide remote and on-site concierge 
services, CCTV monitoring and mobile patrols to the blocks is currently in place, but 
it is not clear in the report when that “Either party may terminate the provision of 
the Services by Salix under this Appendix by giving not less than six (6) 

months’ written notice to the other party", so the arrangement may be terminated 

by the Council serving 6 months' notice to terminate on Salix, without financial 
compensation becoming due. Salix are also obliged to continue to provide the 
services during the notice period, and to cooperate with the Council when the 
services are transferred to a new provider - the Council. 
 
The Council is under a duty to provide "Best Value", and hence reserves the right to 
provide the services through whatever resources will provide that best value, which 
gives the Council flexibility to consider in-house provision without going out to the 
wider market. 
 
The Council has carried out consultation exercises with tenants, residents, and 
partners and made a robust analysis and assessment of the service provision, 

Page 9



 10 

concluding that bringing the service in-house will deliver best value for residents and 
the Council. 
 
There are likely to be TUPE implications with the proposal, and no doubt HROD and 
Employment Legal Teams can provide more advice as the project develops. Whilst it 
is not clear how many employees may be in scope for TUPE, there is an obligation 
on both transferor and transferee (Salix Homes and the Council) to inform and 
consult with employees/unions, “long enough before the transfer” to enable 
consultation to take place, including any measures to be taken following transfer. 
 
The Council will undertake an exercise to obtain Employee Liability Information 
(information about employees who are in scope to transfer with the service which 
Salix must provide to the Council at least 28 days before any transfer) as part of its 
due diligence exercise to enable the Council to form a reasonably accurate 
assessment of liabilities, costs etc of the staff transfer. 
 
For information, if not already done as part of the assessment and options appraisal 
undertaken so far, as part of the due diligence exercise the Council should ascertain 
whether there are any; commercial agreements/contracts associated with the service 
which will need to come over and novated to SCC?; business assets which will need 
to be transferred to the Council; property, licence or lease issues, assignments or 
transfers to the Council may be required; and early engagement with ICT to ensure 
systems are transferrable/compatible with Council systems to maintain the service 
upon transfer. 

 
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Paul Hutchings, Strategic Finance 
Manager x2574 
 
The provision of security services is currently provided by Salix Homes and is 
invoiced to Salford City Council.  This expenditure is then passed on to tenants as a 
line item within the service charge as per HRA policy, leaving a nil variance 
financially to the HRA. 
 
As set out in the report, the recommendation is to provide the security function in-
house within our current CCTV function.  The costs of the CCTV function will be 
categorised as either solely serving the HRA estate or as having a wider benefit to 
area and costs will be apportioned accordingly.  Where expenditure is identified as 
servicing the HRA estate it will be charged to the HRA and, as with the previous 
arrangement, service charges will be adjusted to reflect the actual costs incurred to 
the HRA.  That being said, any saving highlighted within the report, and made as a 
result of providing these services internally will be passed directly on to tenants by 
way of a reduced service charge.  The security recharge and subsequent service 
charge line will be agreed annually as part of the rent and service charge setting 
process. 
 
Any expenditure identified as serving a purpose other than for the HRA estate will be 
charged to general fund and a budget will need to be identified.  

 

Page 10



 11 

 
PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Deborah Derbyshire 
 
The advice provided is that this is a service that will be brought back in house with 
the potential of TUPE.  Procurement recommend that a variation to the current 
contract in relation to the termination clause to be reduced from 6 months to 3 
months.   
 

 
HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Steve Hulme Strategic HR & OD Manager 
 
The Salix employees that are employed directly on the security contract will be 
eligible to TUPE transfer to the Council. The employees would transfer on existing 
terms and conditions of employment (Salix contracts). It is understood that there are 
currently 7 security guards employed who would be in scope of transfer. 
 
Salix will be required to carry out a full formal consultation with the employees 
affected as part of the TUPE process and provide comprehensive details of the 
existing terms & conditions of employment to the Council it is not known at this stage 
whether there would be any requirement for measures (changes to contracts) to be 
introduced at the point of transfer. 
 
The formal Employee liability information must be provided by Salix no later than 28 
days prior to the transfer of the undertaking, it would be expected that Salix would 
work closely with the council HR & OD department on the implications of the transfer 
and provision of meaningful employee data prior to the 28 days to enable a smooth 
transition of employer/service provider and to enable the council to determine if any 
measures need to be introduced and consulted on.   
  

 
 
OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: N/A 

 
 
CONTACT OFFICER:  Dylan Vince, Development Manager, 

Creating a new Pendleton 
   

TEL NO: 0161 793 2476 

 
 
WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: Langworthy 
 
 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Pendleton Security Service Questionnaire Results  

Date:  27th April 2020 

Purpose of the Report 

The Pendleton Security Service Questionnaire was developed to obtain resident feedback on the 

security service in Pendleton and resident views on options for future delivery of the service. 

The questionnaire was sent out on 13th March to all nine high rise blocks within the Pendleton PFI 

area. Tenants and Leaseholders were able to respond to the questionnaire either through 

completing it online, on Survey Monkey, or through returning it in a prepaid envelope.  Drop in 

sessions were planned to take place but, following government advice issued around the spread of 

coronavirus, were cancelled. 

Response Rate 

Overall 128 residents responded to the questionnaire either through completing online, or filling in a 

paper copy, that was subsequently put online to help results analysis. The 128 responses represent a 

15% response rate across all tenants. Experience across the council suggests a response of 10-15% is 

average for this type of exercise.   

From the blocks surveyed Thorn had the highest number of respondents with at least 36 tenants 

responding.  Whitebeam and Hornbeam had the lowest with only 3 responses each. The highest 

proportion of tenants responding was also on Thorn where 20% of 178 tenants responded. 

Satisfaction with the current service 

Overall tenants expressed views that they are dissatisfied with current service.  61% were unhappy 

with the current level of service (35% were very unhappy with the service; 26% were unhappy with 

the service).  Only 24% were happy with the service (15% were happy with the service and only 9% 

were very happy).   This result confirms the dissatisfaction previously raised in the Scrutiny Panel’s 

review of the service.  This did not change if residents were in receipt of Housing Benefit with 62% 

unhappy/very unhappy with the service.  

 

Dissatisfaction with the security service was higher at Thorn and Spruce compared to the other 

blocks. The residents at Thorn and Spruce who receive a manned guard service expressed more 

Page 13



 

 

dissatisfaction (72% were unhappy / very unhappy) than those who received a remote concierge 

service and responded from the other 7 blocks (46%).  The block with the lowest percentage of 

dissatisfied tenants was Salix Court where only 17% were unhappy with the service.   The levels of 

satisfaction correlated with the response rates; i.e. higher response rates resulted in higher levels of 

dissatisfaction. 

What elements of the service are most important? 

When asked which parts of the service are most important, the views of the responses were like 

those raised by the tenants who attended the Security Workshop in November 2019.  71% saw 

increasing levels of CCTV, to include car parks and surrounding areas, as being the most important 

element. 33% saw shorter waiting times being their preference whist only 16% saw a single daily 

patrol by a security guard being a priority. 

 

 

 

Further analysis shows that the preference for having more CCTV coverage is slightly stronger at 

Spruce and Thorn as opposed to the other 7 blocks.  At Thorn 69%, and at Spruce 61%, saw 

increased CCTV surveillance as a priority choice. At Salix Court only 16% saw increased CCTV 

surveillance at priority.  However, overall there was a strong preference across all blocks to increase 

the CCTV surveillance as opposed to having faster response times or more patrols. 

Manned security at Thorn and Spruce Court 

The key issue for Spruce and Thorn Court was to assess resident’s preferences for whether a full 24 

hour service should be provided. Tenants were asked their preference on the three options of: a full 

24 hour service, a daytime only service or a remote service similar to what other blocks currently 

receive.  The overall preference for both blocks was split equally between the options for the service 

being to be operated by a 24 hour staffed concierge and a remote concierge. This was the choice 

Page 14



 

 

made by 39% of responses for each option. A day time only service was favoured by 23% of 

responses. 

 

The results from Spruce and Thorn see a change, from the strong preference for a full 24 hour 

service, at the last consultation that took place on only Spruce and Thorn Court, in 2018. However 

there is no clear majority for any of the 3 choices in terms of how the service should operate in the 

future.  

In the responses from Spruce and Thorn Court, from those in favour of retaining a 24 hour manned 

concierge service, 11 out of the 27 responses were on Housing Benefit. This left a majority of 16 

paying for the service themselves. With the remote concierge preference 10 were on Housing 

Benefit, whilst 17 paid for it themselves. Whilst only a small majority, more who pay for the service 

themselves, seem to favour a remote concierge. Of all those who responded, on Thorn and Spruce, 

44% were on Housing Benefit. This is slightly lower than the actual figure of 51% who are on housing 

benefit across both blocks.  

 Conclusions 

The main conclusion that can be taken from the responses to the questionnaire are that there are 

high levels of dissatisfaction with the current service. Many of the comments received mention slow 

response times from the remote concierge; unauthorised access into the blocks and that the service 

is poor value for money. These comments were all initially raised by the Scrutiny Panel report. 

The report demonstrated that there was a strong support for increasing the use of CCTV keep the 

blocks secure and improve coverage to the grounds and public areas surrounding the blocks. This 

again concurred with the comments from tenants who attended the security workshop in November 

2019. There was also, through the questionnaire, a preference for shorter response times as 

opposed to a daily block patrol that currently takes place.  The response provides the council with 

useful information to shape the specification of the future service. 

The questionnaire did not show that there was a clear preference for the type of security service 

required at Spruce and Thorn Court.  The responses in favour of a 24-hour concierge matched those 

in favour of a remote concierge.   All three options received a reasonable level of support.  Whilst a 

manned concierge receives support there is also clear preference for improved monitoring through 

CCTV cameras which can be carried out away from the block.  The consensus of the respondents is 

less clear on these issues but does suggest the council needs to consider a range of options whilst 

shaping the specification for the future service. 

Page 15



 

 

Whilst a significant number of residents who both live on the blocks and responded to the survey are 

in receipt of benefit there was no clear change in opinions between residents in receipt of benefit or 

those who are not. 

However, the cost of the service is a significant consideration as part of the next steps.   The 

affordability of rents is a key issue for the city across all tenures and value for money and overall cost 

will be a factor in agreeing a final specification for the future service.  

Next steps 

The council is already in the process of exploring options for developing a specification of how a 

future security service can look like and the survey reflected some of these early options.  The 

results of the survey are now part of the information being used to shape the new specification.  

Residents, through the PPP and the Security Subgroup, will be able to continue to shape the 

specification as it developed.  The exact mechanism of how this will happen is not yet fixed and will 

in the current circumstances likely involve further use of technology to keep residents involved and 

informed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Page 16



 

Version: Appendix 2 SLA Security and concierge services 151220 

Service Level Agreement for the delivery of security services in Pendleton 

1. Background and Aims 

Security and concierge services were introduced onto the council blocks in Pendleton following 

investment in door entry, CCTV and controlled access systems during the late 1980s and 1990s.  The 

main aims of this investment and introduction of the service was to improve the safety and security of 

residents living on the blocks by controlling door entry to the blocks, help manage ASB in the 

surrounding area with the addition of CCTV monitoring and controlled access, improve the 

sustainability of the apartments and reduce void levels. 

Whilst the aim to ensure the security and safe enjoyment of Council owned homes in Pendleton 

remain valid, recently residents and the council as Landlord has identified the quality, reliability and 

responsiveness of the system as priorities, and increasingly the cost of the service and its impact on 

overall housing costs. 

This Service Level Agreement (SLA) is intended to set respond to these challenges and out minimum 

acceptable levels of service to the customers and responsibilities and method of delivery between the 

involved parties.  The SLA also intends to identify methods of monitoring and accountability for the 

service delivery. 

2. The Parties Involved 

Residents:  the residents and leaseholders living in the apartments who are the main recipients of the 

security and concierge service who pay a service charge that covers the cost of the service. 

Housing Team:  the council as landlord and owner of the blocks and the team responsible for 

commissioning and monitoring the security service alongside residents. 

Pendleton Monitoring team:  the council team responsible for delivering the security and concierge 

service.    The SLA refers to monitoring officers employed by the councils Community Safety Team as 

the operators of the system. 

Pendleton Together:  The councils PFI contractor responsible for delivering the housing management 

and responsive repairs service.   

3. Scope of Security and Concierge Service 

The Services will consist of the following elements: 

• Remote concierge door entry service to all blocks identified in Table A  

• CCTV monitoring and CCTV security patrols to all blocks in Table A 

• Programming of new fobs for Pendleton Together to issue to residents when required 

• Report, record and investigate instances of ASB in the curtilage of the blocks 

• Provide timely access to recordings to Pendleton Together 

• Report and investigate any faults on equipment to Pendleton Together 

 

                                                                               Table A 

Block Units 

Beech Court 76 

Holm Court 78 

Hornbeam Court 44 

Page 17



 

Version: Appendix 2 SLA Security and concierge services 151220 

Lombardy Court 26 

Malus Court 84 

Plane Court 84 

Salix Court 68 

Whitebeam Court 44 

Thorn Court 177 

Spruce Court 178 

 

4. Concierge and Door Entry Service 

All the apartment blocks are secured by a perimeter fence with designated vehicular and pedestrian 

access points. Access is further controlled, at the main entrances to the block, and in some cases 

through inner lobby doors. 

The remote concierge service is based at Salford City Council’s CCTV and Alarm receiving centre at 

Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road Swinton.  

At the commencement of each shift a system check will be carried out by the monitoring officer to 

identify, where possible, any faults or issues with the doors, gates and cameras. Any faults identified 

will be reported by email to Pendleton Together within 1 hour of discovery and recorded on the 

shared file or other agreed record. 

All residents will access the blocks by means of an electronic key fob presented to an automatic fob 

reader, without the need to contact the concierge service. Where residents do not have a car, this will 

be restricted to pedestrian gate access only. 

Visitors will press the call button at the perimeter entrance points to contact the concierge service.  

Upon receipt of the call the monitoring officer will ask the visitor to verify their name and the person 

they are visiting. The monitoring officer will then attempt to contact the resident concerned the 

intercom system connected to a handset located in each apartment. 

Assuming the resident confirms they want to see the visitor, the monitoring officer will allow the 

visitor access to the grounds and subsequently the building. The visitor will then be able to make their 

way to the resident’s apartment. Where there are additional internal security doors, within the 

building such as at Thorn and Spruce Court, the monitoring officer will remotely open these doors so 

that the visitor can get to the resident’s apartment.  The security officer will follow the visitor on CCTV 

where time allows. 

Where the resident either doesn’t wish to see the visitor, or they are unavailable, the monitoring 

officer will politely decline the visitors request for access using pre agreed wording issued to the 

contractor. 

In the event of a resident having lost or mislaid their fob, the monitoring officer will ask a series of 

prescribed questions and assess the responses against the details held in the electronic copy of the 

residents list (provided by Pendleton Together via the shared file or similar) and once verified the 

monitoring officer will allow them access into the building.  The monitoring officer will ask the 

resident to contact Pendleton Together to arrange for a new fob to be issued.  The monitoring officer 

will record details of the contact and report back to Pendleton Together through a shared file or other 

agreed process.  

Page 18



 

Version: Appendix 2 SLA Security and concierge services 151220 

The Pendleton Monitoring Team will be responsible for programming and activating electronic key 

fobs.  Pendleton Together will be responsible for ensuring that the Pendleton Monitoring Team have 

an adequate supply of electronic fobs. Pendleton Together will issue all fobs and recharge customers 

where appropriate.   Requests for a fob to be programmed or cancelled will be made by Pendleton 

Together using an agreed form.  Failure to complete the form correctly will result in the form being 

returned without the fob being programmed.  Pendleton Together will arrange for collection of the 

fobs which can be obtained from the civic centre 24/7. 

A password system is in operation for visitors such as care workers and other visitors with specific 

needs relating to a resident’s circumstances.  Pendleton Together are responsible for providing the 

Pendleton Monitoring Team with this information. 

All deliveries are treated the same way as visitors to residents’ apartments and will only be allowed 

access if a resident authorises and is in attendance.  The monitoring officer will ask the delivery driver 

for a complete list of properties with deliveries to ensure all residents are contacted prior to gaining 

entrance to the block. 

5. Vehicular Access and Parking 

Residents requesting vehicular access to the car park will be required to complete a form registering 

their vehicles that includes a description of the vehicles and the colour.  Fobs will be programmed 

accordingly.  Visitors in cars will follow the same procedure as pedestrians and only be admitted to 

the block if the resident confirms.  Visitors may be redirected to alternative parking at peak times 

when no space is available. 

6. CCTV Monitoring and Camera Patrols 

Each apartment block and grounds are covered by CCTV cameras that are integral to the effective 

working of the concierge service.  The cameras are located on the internal and external areas of 

apartment blocks primarily covering access to the blocks.   A plan showing the approximate coverage 

of the cameras can be found in appendix [xx] 

Pendleton Together provide local DVR recording, the capability for remote monitoring and Pan Tilt 
and Zoom (PTZ) telemetry, and interconnection of cameras/buildings back to a council’s CCTV and 
Alarm Monitoring centre. Images are: 

• Colour; 

• At least 720x576 PAL in resolution; 

• Recorded at no less than 10 frames per second per camera; and 

• Of a quality such that the recorded images are clear and virtually free from artefacts 
 
CCTV cameras are digitally recorded 24 hours a day and the images retained 31 days.   

The Pendleton Monitoring Team will, where required, remotely access the on-site CCTV recording 

equipment and download supporting footage. Pendleton Together will complete a release form 

detailing the request.  Where an evidence release form is duly completed and submitted the 

Pendleton Monitoring Team will make the footage available to investigating parties.  

CCTV cameras will also be used by the monitoring officers as a means of identifying visitors to the 

block and deterring and detecting crime and antisocial behaviour. 

When not in use to verify visitors, the monitoring officers will pro-actively carry out CCTV camera 

patrols by making regular visual inspections and utilising cameras to their full capacity. PTZ cameras 

will be regularly interrogated making full use of the 360-degree function.  A quarterly report will be 

Page 19



 

Version: Appendix 2 SLA Security and concierge services 151220 

provided on the use of CCTV cameras in this way that also includes a summary of the types of 

incidents recorded and where available the outcome of the incident.  

Pendleton Together may request the use of the CCTV system and assistance of the Pendleton 

Monitoring Team to monitor and help provide evidence to tenancy and estate issues. 

Any crime or incidents worthy of Police intervention will be promptly reported by the monitoring 

officer to the Police. 

All reportable incidents will be recorded by the monitoring officer and forwarded within a maximum 

of 24 hours to nominated officers at Pendleton Together to take appropriate action.  Where an 

incident or situation arises that requires urgent assistance the Pendleton Monitoring Team will assist 

and within the available resource and where appropriate allocate additional resource from the public 

realm team. 

The use of CCTV cameras is strictly controlled under the Data Protection Act 1988 and the Human 

Rights Act. All CCTV cameras will be utilised within the guidelines and legislation in place. The 

Pendleton Monitoring Team will comply with all relevant legislation in its provision of the Services. 

7. Staffing 

The Pendleton Monitoring Team shall provide adequate staffing resources to deliver the services on 

behalf of the residents and Housing Team, including the provision of adequate cover in the event of 

annual leave/sickness absence and ensure the staff are adequately supervised. 

The Pendleton Monitoring Team shall ensure that employees shall faithfully and diligently carry out 

their duties and that all staff are trained and licenced to the required Security Industry Association 

(SIA) standards.  

8. Accountability and Monitoring 

The Pendleton Monitoring Team shall produce a quarterly Monitoring Report to show the status of 

the SLA.  The report shall be presented 5 working days in advance of the Quarterly Monitoring 

meeting.  As a minimum the report should: 

• record performance against the key service standards and performance indicators,  

• identify any complaints or feedback from Residents, 

• identify issues raised from the interface with Pendleton Together, 

• Show continuous improvement. 

Acting reasonable the parties may request other reporting items to be included in the report. 

The quarterly monitoring meeting will be held between the Parties nominated representation.   

The following measures will be used to monitor performance of the agreement between the 

Contractor, the SCC Pendleton team and Pendleton Together. 

Service standards 

Provide a 24-hour door entry and concierge service at all blocks in the Pendleton PFI area, 
listed in Table A  

Provide enhanced CCTV monitoring to the cameras listed in Appendix 1 

Programme and activate an electronic key fob to Pendleton Together within 24 hours of 
the receipt of the request 

Page 20



 

Version: Appendix 2 SLA Security and concierge services 151220 

To make available CCTV evidence on receipt of an evidence release form to Pendleton 
Together and the Police within a maximum of 24 hours  

Carry out a system check at the start of each monitoring officers shift and report through 
to Pendleton Together within 1 hour. 

Provide a quarterly Monitoring Report  

Provide appropriate and appropriate representation at the quarterly monitoring meeting 
or other frequency as agreed by both parties. 

 

Performance Indicators 

Report faulty security equipment faults to 
Pendleton Together within 1 hour of being 
identified 

95% 

Notify Pendleton Together of all customer 
complaints received by them within 24 hours 

95% 

Customer satisfaction with the service 
received  

90% (how will this be measured?) 

To answer all door intercom calls within [20] 
seconds  

 

 

9. Maintenance and repair of the security system 

The Housing Team, acting through its PFI contractor Pendleton Together, will ensure that all CCTV and 

door entry equipment is maintained in line with the requirements set out in the Authorities Output 

Specification. 

At the commencement of each shift a system check will be carried out by the monitoring officer to 

identify, where possible, any faults or issues with the doors, gates and cameras.  

Any faults identified will be reported by email to Pendleton Together within 1 hour of discovery and 

recorded on the shared file or other agreed record. 

The Pendleton Monitoring Team will use the system to work with Pendleton Together to identify the 

cause of repairs and system failures.   

10. Cost of the Services and Annual Review Process 

The Pendleton Monitoring Team will provide the council’s Finance team a breakdown and schedule of 

costs to deliver the security service.  Costs will need to reflect the actual cost of the service for the 

following financial yea and include any wage increases, pensions and any costs linked to CPI, etc.  This 

will enable the council’s Finance team to calculate and gain approval for an annual security charge for 

residents, as part of the annual rent and service charge setting process between the period 

November and March each year. 

This SLA will be reviewed on an annual basis during this process. 

11. Complaints 

Complaints will be dealt with under the councils Complaints Procedure unless the complaint relates to 

an element of the security service managed by Pendleton Together, e.g. repair and maintenance of 

the system.  Where a complaint covers two service areas the Housing Team will nominate which party 

takes the lead role.  All parties will make reasonable to ensure information is provided to allow the 

responsible party to respond within their Complaints Procedure timescales. 

Page 21



 

Version: Appendix 2 SLA Security and concierge services 151220 

12. Duration of Services 

The provision of the Services by the Pendleton Monitoring Team shall commence on the Completion 

Date and shall continue until 1st April 2022 unless extended under the review process in paragraph 10.   

15. Termination of Services 

Minimum of 6 months’ notice. 

 

Page 22



PUBLIC INTEREST TEST – CHECKLIST 
Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972 

 
 
Name of Report: Security and 
Concierge Services in Pendleton 

 
Committee Briefing of the Statutory 
Deputy City Mayor & Lead Member for 
Housing  
Date 19th January 2021 

 
Category of exemption applied: Paragraph 3 - ‘Information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 
information)  
 
 

Public Interest Test Questionnaire 
This is not a definitive list. However, it does provide a series of questions that you 
should ask yourself when recommending confidentiality. 
 

FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT DISCLOSING INFORMATION 

Will disclosure help people to understand and participate in 
public debate about current issues? 

No 

Will disclosure help people to understand why the Council has taken 
certain decisions?  

Yes 

Will disclosure give the public information about the personal 
probity (or otherwise) of elected members or council staff? 

No 

Will disclosure encourage greater competition and better value for money 
for council taxpayers?  

No 

Will disclosure allow individuals and companies to understand 
decisions made by the Council that have affected their lives?  

No 

Is the information about factors that affect public health and public 
safety? (NB you should be careful if considering the release of 
information which might adversely affect public health and safety)   

No 

Will disclosure reveal incompetent, illegal or unethical decision-
making or examples of malpractice? 

No 

Will disclosure reveal that such maladministration has not in fact 
occurred? 

No 

 
 

FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT WITHHOLDING INFORMATION 

Will disclosure damage the Council’s interests without giving the 
public any useful information? 

Yes 

Will disclosure damage another organisation or person’s interests, 
without giving the public any useful information?  

Yes 

Will disclosure give an unfair, prejudicial or inaccurate view of a 
situation? 

No 

Will disclosure prevent the effective delivery of services without giving 
the public useful information?  

No 

Will disclosure put the health and safety of any group or 
individuals at risk?  

No 

Is there a clear and coherent reason why the community in general Yes 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6a



would benefit more from information being withheld?   
 

Justification of decision 

(Please provide explicit reasoning) 

 

The report relates to the business affairs of the Council and its contracts containing 
financial information that would be required to be kept confidential. 

Other documents attached: No 

 
Name and Title: Dylan Vince, Development Manager 

 
Date: 19th January 2021 

Page 24



Document is Restricted

Page 25

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4a Security and Concierge Services in Pendleton (See Item 6a).
	Appendix 1 Security Results Statement 300420
	Appendix 2 SLA Security and Concierge Services

	6a Security and Concierge Services in Pendleton.
	Report LM Pendleton Concierge PART 2 190121


